Public Document Pack

Simon W. Baker B.Ed MBA MISPAL
Chief Executive

AGENDA
for a
MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 30 July 2019 at 2.00 pm in
The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek
Contact Officer:

Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:S. Ralphs MBE
M. Deaville
M. Bowen
T. Hall
S. Scalise
E. Wain

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader)
Communities
Customer Services
Environment
Planning, Development and Property

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.
1.

Apologies

2.

Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 6)

3.

Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

5.

Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any

P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Tel: 0345 605 3010

A G E N D A (Continued)

6.

Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any

7.

Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any

8.

Leader

9.

8 .1

Forward Plan (Pages 7 - 14)

8 .2

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2018/19
(Pages 15 - 62)

Communities
9 .1

10.

Homelessness Update Report (Pages 63 - 78)

Environment
10 .1 Declaration of Air Quality Management Areas (Pages 79 - 96)

11.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Chair to Move:“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act,
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would
be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.”

12.

Leader

13.

Environment
13 .1 Supporting the Council's legal duties under the Environmental Permitting
Regulations 2010 (Pages 97 - 100)
(Paragraph 1 - Information relating to any individual. )

14.

Planning, Development and Property
14 .1 Planning & Regeneration Staffing Structure (Pages 101 - 114)
(Paragraph 2 - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an
individual. )
14 .2 Lease of 8 Market Place, Leek (Pages 115 - 124)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including the authority holding that information)
)

Agenda Item 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS
TUESDAY, 18 JUNE 2019
PRESENT:

Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair)
Councillors M Bowen, M A Deaville, T Hall, S Scalise and E Wain

IN ATTEDNANCE:
1

Councillors G Bentley, B Cawley, E Fallows and B Johnson

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2019 were approved.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY
There were no declarations made.

3

FORWARD PLAN
DECISION:
That the Forward Plan for the period June to August 2019 be approved for
publication.

4

APPOINTMENT OF MEMBER DEVELOPMENT CHAMPION
The Cabinet considered the appointment of an elected member to the role of
Member Development Champion to lead the Council’s Member Development
Working Group.
Options considered:
The Cabinet was recommended to select an elected member to the position of
Member Development Champion.
DECISION:
That Councillor David Shaw be appointed to the role of Member Development
Champion.

5

PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK 2019/20 AND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
The Cabinet considered a report that:



Provided members with an opportunity to scrutinise the draft Performance
Framework and associated targets for 2019/20.
Presented the findings from the Annual Report and how these had
influenced the Framework.

Page 3

Cabinet - 18 June 2019


Outlined the suggested approach and timescale for the development of a
new 4-year Corporate Plan.

The report was considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 12
June 2019.
Options considered:
Members were asked to consider the proposed targets and to make amendments if
they considered that they were necessary.
DECISION:
That the Performance Framework 2019/20 and Annual Report 2018/19 be approved.
6

CONSIDERATION
OF
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

THE

SUBMITTED

DRAFT

LEEKFRITH

The Cabinet considered the draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan submitted by
Leekfrith Parish Council which sought approval of publication of the Plan and
appointment of an Examiner.
Options considered:
On the basis of the assessment of the draft Neighbourhood Plan and accompanying
documents, to find that the proposal does not comply with the criteria for a
neighbourhood plan and thus to recommend that the plan is not taken forward for
publication and examination. Not Recommended. If Councillors were minded to
refuse the submitted Neighbourhood Plan, the authority would be required to notify
the Parish Council of the reasons for the refusal and to publicise its decision. This
would result in a delay to the Neighbourhood Development Plan timetable.
DECISION:



7

That the draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan as set out at Appendix 1 of the
report is published for public consultation for a minimum of six weeks.
That the Head of Regeneration is authorised to appoint an independent examiner
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, the Peak District National Park Authority
and Leekfrith Parish Council.
That following public consultation, the draft Plan and representations received be
submitted for independent examination.

BUS SERVICES
The Leader of the Council announced that she would be working with officers with
regards to the provision of bus transport in the district following recent changes and
would like to be invited to parish council meetings in order to help to identify
essential routes.

8

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government
Act, 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the
Page
nature of the business
to be 4
transacted or the nature of the

Cabinet - 18 June 2019
proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential information as
defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the
public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information
as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act
would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs
indicated.
9

ASCENT - REVIEW OF BUSINESS PLAN / DELIVERY MODEL
The Cabinet approved a report that proposed a change in the service delivery model
for Ascent LLP and confirmed support for the proposed way forward.
The meeting closed at 2.38 pm

_________________________________Chairman

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.1

CABINET FORWARD PLAN
July – September 2019
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take
shortly. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’ The Plan is
updated and published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is
available, together with all public reports referred to, from our website
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Should you have any questions
regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member Services Team
via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613.
A key decision is one defined as:
"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates."
OR
"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an
area comprising two or more District Wards."

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the
Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551.
They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions
to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker.
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public. However, occasionally, some
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal
information). This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings
where this will apply and the reason for this.
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private. This will again state why this is
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the
meeting should be open to the public. This will also include a statement of the
Council’s response to any such representations.

Page 7

1

INDEX
Date of decision
to be made

Page
No.

30 July 2019

3

Declaration of Air Quality Management Areas

30 July 2019

4

Supporting the Council's legal duties under the Environmental
Permitting Regulations 2010

30 July 2019

5

Fourth Quarter Performance and Financial Review (Outturn) 2018/19

30 July 2019

6

Planning and Regeneration Staffing Structure

30 July 2019

7

30 July 2019

8

Matter to be decided
COMMUNITIES
Homelessness Update Report
ENVIRONMENT

LEADER

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY
Biddulph Town Hall

Page 8

2

Communities
Matter for decision

Homelessness Update Report

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Communities

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Assistant Chief Executive

Public/Private report

Public

Page 9

3

Environment
Matter for decision

Declaration of Air Quality Management Areas

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Scalise

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Communities

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 10

4

Environment
Matter for decision

Supporting the Council's legal duties under the
Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Scalise

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Communities

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report

Private – Private - Information relating to any
individual or likely to reveal the identity of an
individual

Page 11

5

Leader
Matter for decision

Fourth Quarter Performance and Financial
Review (Outturn) 2018/19

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 12

6

Leader
Matter for decision

Planning and Regeneration Staffing Structure

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Private - Information relating to any individual

Page 13

7

Planning, Development and Property
Matter for decision

Biddulph Town Hall

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Private - Information relating to the financial or
business affairs of any particular person

Page 14

8

Agenda Item 8.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
30th July 2019
TITLE:

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and
Performance Review 2018/19

PORTFOLIO HOLDER

Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Claire Hazeldene - Deputy Director and Head
of Finance
Vanessa Higgins – Information Business
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A (2018/19 – Fourth Quarter (Provisional Outturn) Financial Report)
 Appendix B (2018/19 – Fourth Quarter Procurement Report)
 Appendix C (2018/19 – Fourth Quarter Performance Report)
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March 2019
(“Fourth Quarter 2018/19”)

2.

Recommendations

2.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:



Note the fourth quarter 2018/19 financial, procurement and performance
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this
covering report;
Approve:
o the allocation of the surplus on the General Fund Revenue Account
to reserves as explained in Appendix A (paragraph 2.9); and
o the proposals to carry forward unspent capital budget as set out in
Appendix A (paragraph 5.6)

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

This report summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and performance
position after considering service activity up to the end of the fourth quarter
(i.e. 31st March 2019).

Page 15

3.2

Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B
(Procurement) and Appendix C (Performance).

3.3

The position can be summarised as follows:

Subject

Headline

Reference

Finance

The headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
Performance against Budget
 At the Quarter Four stage the General Fund provisional outturn
for 2018/19 is an underspend of £777,487.
Efficiency Programme
 The overall efficiency target for 2018/19 was £830,000. There
was a shortfall of £422,973 against target which has been offset
in the year by the overall General Fund underspend without the
need to use the Council’s earmarked efficiency programme
reserve. The Efficiency Programme was reprofiled when setting
the Budget & MTFP in February.
Capital Programme
 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2018/19 was set at
£3.59 million as part of the MTFP presented in February 2019.
The provisional outturn is £2.23 million which represents an
underspend of £1.36 million. Of this £0.77million relates to
reprofiling of spend on vehicle and plant acquisitions and
£0.34million to an underspend against the provision for Disabled
Facility Grants.
Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 31st March 2019 totalled £7.6 million.
The Ascent loan and debenture currently stands at £19 million.
 Council borrowing at 31 March 2019 totalled £11 million (relates
to the Ascent loan)
 The Council’s net interest receipts were £59,851 above budget.
Revenue Collection
 98.66% of Council Tax was collected by 31 March 2019 (98%
target exceeded), compared to 98.60% for the same period last
year.
 99.13% of Business Rates was collected by 31 March 2019
(98.1% target exceeded) compared with 98.54% for the same
period last year.
 At the end of Quarter Four debt that was over 60 days old was
£70,434 which compares with £110,423 at 31st March 2018 (5%
reduction target exceeded).

Appendix A

Procurement

The headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
 15 procurement activities were completed
 The Procurement forward plan includes 61 procurement activities
for completion in 2019/20 (either SMDC only or joint)
 At the 31st March 2019, 64% of procurement activity undertaken
was on the forward plan and the Council paid 92% of its invoices
within 30 days during the year

Appendix B

Page 16

Subject

Headline

Reference

Performance

The headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
 79% of the key performance indicators met target (performance
has improved from last year in respect of 45% of the indicators)
 Of the 25 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, six are
complete, two are still to commence, three are rated amber, one
rated red the remainder being classified as ‘Green’; and
 The Council received 98 complaints, 184 comments and 82
compliments in the Fourth Quarter. Repeat complaints and
response times both on track

Appendix C

4.

How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the
subject of this report.

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

Detailed analysis is contained within the appendices.

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2

Workforce
None.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality
and Diversity policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the
report.

6.5

Legal
None.

16.6
6.7

Sustainability
None.
External Consultation
None.

Page 17

Risk
6.8 A

Risk Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.
ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Various background working papers

Moorlands House

Claire Hazeldene
01538 395400 Ext. 4191
Vanessa Higgins
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

Page 18

APPENDIX A

2018/19
Fourth Quarter
(Provisional Outturn)
Financial
Review

1

Page 19

1.

Background and Introduction

1.1.

In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and
recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to
members. This is the fourth and final report for 2018/19.

1.2.

The report summarises overall financial performance for 2018/19 with
particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council.
Specific considerations are as follows:


General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary
performance on the General Revenue Account by looking at variations in
income and expenditure and the funding received by the Council.



Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers
progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast for
2018/19.



Alliance Environmental Services (Section 4) – highlights the
performance of the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and
Fleet services.



Capital Programme (Section 5) – provides an update to Members on
progress against the Council’s capital plan



Treasury Management (Section 6) – sets out the key statistics in terms
of investments and borrowings;



Revenue Collection (Section 7) – considers progress-to-date in
collecting the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts.

2

Page 20

2.

General Fund Revenue Account

2.1.

This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General
Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations in income
and expenditure and funding received by the Council.

Service (with staff)

Provisional
Outturn
2018/19

2018/19
Budget

Variance

£
535,880
94,680
670,360
49,230
308,800
617,770
76,710
(96,300)
16,210
572,950
224,010
84,470
(221,710)
471,530
457,030
43,110
198,850
178,300
381,870
1,423,340
2,277,570
336,700
667,730
573,180
417,060

£
515,122
92,038
650,675
53,747
272,152
817,830
(122,436)
(30,814)
11,203
530,882
167,030
44,756
(206,247)
456,584
441,503
(53,087)
207,151
159,483
442,380
1,101,609
2,360,653
294,149
654,869
477,381
394,000

£
(20,758)
(2,642)
(19,685)
4,517
(36,648)
200,060
(199,146)
65,486
(5,007)
(42,068)
(56,980)
(39,714)
15,463
(14,946)
(15,527)
(96,197)
8,301
(18,817)
60,510
(321,731)
83,083
(42,551)
(12,861)
(95,799)
(23,060)

Net Total of Services

10,359,330

9,732,613

(626,717)

Net Interest

(347,520)
10,011,810

(407,371)
9,325,242

(59,851)
(686,568)

Funding - external
Funding - reserves contribution
to/(from)

(9,210,760)

(9,471,236)

(260,476)

(801,050)

(631,493)

169,557

-

(777,487)

(777,487)

Alliance Leadership Team
Audit
ICT
Human Resources
Member Services
Property Services+
Benefits
Planning Applications
Building Control
Customer Services
Legal Services
Electoral Services
Licensing and Land Charges
Regeneration+
Communities and Cultural
Housing Strategy
Transformation
Community Safety and Enforcement
Finance Income & Procurement
Corporate Finance
Waste Collection
Street Scene
Leisure Services
Horticulture
Environmental Health

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit

Use of /
(contribution
to) Earmarked
Reserves

147

(5,725)

(26,680)
(33,687)
5,455
(92,533)
964
(17,484)

8,165

(161,378)

* In previous quarters Staff costs were budgeted and recorded in Finance & Procurement. They were considered a corporate resource
to be the main source of savings realised by the Authority’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme, However to show the true use
of resources by individual services it is necessary to include the actual staff costs incurred. Therefore the Quarter Four provisional
outturn position includes the actual staff costs (and matching budgets) at the service level.
+The Visitor Services function has now been split between two service areas: ‘Car Parks’ with Property Services and
‘Tourism and Markets’ within Regeneration

3

Page 21

2.1

A revenue budget of £10,011,810 was set for 2018/19. The table above shows
how this budget has been allocated to services.

2.2

The provisional outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year is
£9,234,323. This represents a projected surplus for the year of £777,487.

2.3

There are five areas of significant underspend (>£50,000):


Benefits (£199,146 underspend); Where overpaid benefits can not be
reclaimed from on-going payments, the recipients are invoiced individually.
The income is credited to the service in the year that the invoice is raised
irrespective of when the cash is actually received. In acknowledgement that not
all invoices will be paid the service is charged a bad debts provision. In
2018/19 a substantial amount of historic overpayments were identified and
pursued by raising invoices. These resulted in some £244,000 being credited
to the service though this was partially offset by a £67,000 bad debts provision.
The remaining underspend was as a result of grant funding received in year to
support administrative initiatives exceeding the actual direct cost impact on the
service.



Legal (£56,980 underspend); The underspend arises from the awarding of
costs to the council for an historic planning appeal.



Housing Strategy (£96,197 underspend); The housing needs function of this
service area can benefit from third party funding of varying but sometimes
substantial amounts to be targeted at Homelessness initiatives in the District.
The unpredictable nature of these grants and the extended timeframe of the
various initiatives often require the use of earmarked reserves to match funding
to costs. Therefore, some £92,033 of the underspend has been earmarked to
move into reserves.



Corporate Finance (£321,734 underspend); There are a number of factors
that contribute to this underspend:
o A substantial £600,000 underspend is reported against the corporate
contract hire budget reflecting an in-year change in the way the authority’s
operational fleet requirements are satisfied. As part of the business plan
for Alliance Environmental Services, the practice of hiring sweepers and
refuse vehicles etc. has been replaced by purchase and in-house
maintenance. This in effect moved the financing element from contract hire
to within the overall costs of treasury management (borrowing costs). The
change has caused initial cost pressures on the revenue budgets of the
Waste and Street Scene services as more expensive spot hire
arrangements are utilised during the transition period. Therefore as
reported in section 4.5 £168,350 of this saving has been transferred to the
Waste budget to support the crystallised waste vehicle and other fleet risk
items.
o Following a technical consultation by the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government (MHCLG), the methodology for calculating
compensation due to local authorities for Small Business Rates Relief
4

Page 22

o

o

o



2.4

threshold changes has been refined. This has generated a windfall for the
Council of £27,528 which been credited to corporate finance as it relates to
previous years.
MHCLG announced as part of the local government finance settlement
2019 to 2020 that authorities would benefit from increased growth in
business rates income which has generated a surplus in the government’s
business rates levy account since the introduction of the retention scheme;
£39,588 has been received by the Council in 2018-19 from this distribution.
At a meeting of the Pool Board for the Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent
Business Rates Pool on 13th March 2019, it was agreed that there would
be redistribution of the current contingency balance held by the Pool lead,
Staffordshire County Council. The Council’s share of this is £149,514.
These underspends have been partially offset by a £422,970 shortfall
against the in-year efficiency target which is detailed in section 3 below.

Horticulture (£95,799); Cemeteries reported a £30,000 surplus arising from
grounds maintenance costs being £20,000 less than budgeted while income
was £10,000 above expectations. Spend on tree works across a number of
service cost centres was lower than budgeted to the value of £26,000. The
remaining service underspend arose across a range of locations, projects and
activities.

There are four areas of significant overspend (>£50,000):


Property (£200,060 overspend); The temporary arrangements put in place
while the Alliance’s property management contract is being procured have
been extended. This is to allow detailed negotiations to take place that ensure
the long term viability and economy of the contract. As a result the in-year
maintenance budget has been exceeded. However, as a result of cumulative
underspends which have generated over previous years of the contract, the
contract payment in 2019/20 has been reduced accordingly which should
remove this budget pressure in 2019/20.



Planning Applications (£65,486 overspend); Income failed to reach the
levels achieved in 2017/18 which had been used to set the budget for fees and
charges in 2018/19. This will be monitored during 2019/20.



Finance, Income and Procurement (£60,510 overspend); As reported at
Section 7.2, the authority continues to achieve good collection rates for its
council tax and business rates. This is being achieved without generating the
levels of summons income that have been seen in previous years (following a
review of recovery fees charges). In addition, external resource has been
utilised throughout to year to support with Council Tax processing.



Waste Collection (£83,083 overspend); While trade waste activities are
generating a £35,000 surplus, this is offset by operating overspends of £45,000
on general refuse and £97,000 on recycling. The former resulted form the
costs of spot hiring vehicles while the overspend on recycling reflects
pressures on volumes and the values received for recycled waste.
5

Page 23

2.5

The £59,851 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 6.

2.6

The level of funding anticipated for the year is £90,919 above that budgeted due to
the following:
External Funding: (£260,476)


Business Rates Retention (£242,124):
o Following on from the decision of the Shadow Pool Board for the
Staffordshire & Stoke-on-Trent Business Rates Pool to distribute the
Contingency balance held by the Pool Lead, Staffordshire County
Council, the members of the pool are not required to pay the
contingency contribution in 2018/19, these leads to additional retention
of £117,155.
o The contribution payable to the Pool for the Central Investment Fund is
lower than the budget by £46,105 owing to the reduction in growth on
NNDR income at the end of the year following the inclusion in the NDR
appeals provision of potential refunds for the backdated reduction of RVs
on ATM hereditaments which is currently being considered nationally.
o S31 grants for business rates are £78,864 greater than the budget owing
to the increase of Small Business Rate relief awarded and the
government’s recalculation of the method of compensation for this relief.



Rural Services Delivery Grant (£23,132)
It was originally anticipated, based on previous years, that this grant which
is paid to authorities that are rural in nature would be at a level of £37,320.
Government however raised the amount available nationally increasing the
Council’s share to £60,452.

Use of Reserves (£169,557)





The original budget for 2018/19 assumed the use of £792,870 in general fund
contingency and £8,180 in earmarked reserves
The outturn reported in table 2.1 assumes that the £792,870 drawdown of
contingency reserves included in the 2018/19 budget was used. In practice
however owing to the general fund surplus generated in the year the actual use
of these reserves was only £15,383.
The £169,557 variance in reserve usage reported in table 2.1 reflects that
instead of using the £8,180 in earmarked reserves the Council was actually
able to contribute £161,378 in to them.

Earmarked;


Electoral Services £26,680 contribution: this is a budgeted annual contribution
in to a reserve earmarked to spread the cost of the district’s elections over the
term of a Council.



Housing Strategy £92,533 contribution: Third party funds received in-year are
being set aside to support homelessness initiatives that will run into future
years.
6

Page 24



Regeneration Services £33,687 contribution: New Burdens (NB) grants have
been received in year to support the Council with the impact of Government
initiatives to promote house building. These have been transferred to reserves
to support initiatives in future years.



Horticulture £8,165 use: Works on Recreation Grounds and Open Spaces are
part funded each year by drawing down on Section 106 monies previously
received from Developers as part of their planning obligations.



ICT £147 use: monies previously set aside for homelessness reduction
initiatives have been used to offset the costs of an associated IT system.



Benefits £5,725 contribution; New Burdens (NB) grant, received in the year to
support the impact on the Council of Government initiatives to reform the
Benefits system, that was not applied in year has been earmarked for future
use.



Communities & Cultural £5,455 use; Use was made of three earmarked
reserves to support a number of service initiatives.



Community Safety & Enforcement; £964 use; The small balance on a historic
reserve was applied to support the service in year.



Corporate Finance £17,484 contribution; All similar sized councils received a
Government grant of £17,484 towards Local Authority costs associated with
exiting the European Union. These monies have been set to one side to meet
such future liabilities should they arise.

General Fund Revenue Reserves
2.7

The provisional outturn for the year on the General Fund Revenue Account was a
£777,487 surplus.

2.8

The surplus generated is calculated inclusive of the £792,870 use of general
reserves budgeted for 2018/19. Therefore, the Authority’s contingency reserves
have decreased overall by £15,383.

2.9

The Authority’s calculated minimum for its contingency reserve is £1,052,000. A
review of the Authority’s reserves has been performed to identify areas where
earmarking for future projects was considered prudent while maintaining a
satisfactory level for contingency. As a result the following moves into earmarked
reserves are proposed;
-

£834,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to fund capital
expenditure and reduce the overall cost of borrowing. It is anticipated that
this will be applied to acquiring vehicles and equipment for Alliance
Environmental Services Limited.

-

£360,000 used to create a reserve to cover the potential costs associated
with the review of the Ascent Housing LLP in partnership with Your Housing

-

£12,000 set aside to provide funds to support the ‘Keep Britain Tidy’
campaign
7

Page 25

-

£15,000 added to a reserve established to fund a review of the condition of
the Council’s buildings to inform capital expenditure requirements
(previously a property ‘Health and Safety’ reserve)

2.10

In addition, a balance of £135,000 has been returned to Contingency. This is
made up of reduction to the pension reserve and ICT reserve (there still remains
£525,000 in the pensions reserve and £150,000 in the ICT reserve which is
considered sufficient) and the closure of the staff conference reserve as any future
costs can be covered from existing budgets.

2.11

The effect of these changes results in a balance on general fund reserves as at
31st March 2019 of £2 million – which is £1 million above minimum contingency.
The current Medium Term Financial Plan expects to contribute a net £0.33million
to general contingency reserves over the next four years 2019/20 – 2022/23. This
is however dependent on the realisation of the Efficiency Plan.

8

Page 26

3

Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme

3.1

This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2018/19.

3.2

The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2018) included
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
targeting savings of £3.14 million. This was required to balance the forecast
budget deficit position of £2.7m and also the carry forward of unachieved
efficiencies from 2016/17 of £0.4m.

3.3

The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both
reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more
of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The strategy
has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service
delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to
ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out
in the Corporate Plan.

3.4

The Strategy has five main areas of focus:






Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a number
of large service functions which are currently provided by an external contractor
/ supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming to an end. This will also
allow a fundamental review of these services with proper consideration of the
current financial constraints. The contract commitments have sometimes
restricted the opportunity to align services across the alliance with High Peak.
The individual projects will focus on Waste Collection & Environment Services,
Leisure Management and Facilities Management
Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of rationalising
the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order to allow for the
necessary capital investment
Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic growth
based upon the established Local Plan.
Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources on
income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income
Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority areas
of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-statutory services

3.5

The 2018/19 budget provided for the achievement of £830,000 of such savings in
year – with a significant focus on growth, income generation and major
procurements, particularly the waste collection joint arrangement involving
Alliance Environmental Services (AES).

3.6

At the end of Quarter Four, £315,027 has been taken against the overall
Efficiency Programme. A further £92,000 of income related savings were also
delivered at budget-setting time, including income arising out of revised New
Homes Bonus funding forecasts.

9

Page 27

3.7

This leaves a £422,973 shortfall against target due to slippage in the profile of
savings. The efficiency shortfall is being partially offset by one-off vacancy
savings in the establishment as well as other corporate in year savings. Whilst
this plugs the in-year savings gap; it does not necessarily provide for on-going
budget savings. Consequently, any shortfall in efficiency savings at year-end will
need to be rolled forward to be achieved in future years.

3.8

An exercise was undertaken as part of the 2019/20 budget setting process to
review and re-profile the Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan – which anticipated a
shortfall against target in 2018/19. Consequently the programme was extended
by one year to account for the forecast timing of savings.

3.9

The Authority carries a reserve of £493,000 earmarked to support the Efficiency
Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency
programme, such as redundancy costs. It has not been necessary to draw on this
reserve in 2018/19 so it remains intact to underwrite performance against future
savings targets in the Efficiency Programme.

10

Page 28

4

Alliance Environmental Services

4.1

Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) is a company created with a vision to
deliver waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the
Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak areas. The company has three
shareholders: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, High Peak Borough
Council and ANSA, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council.
This section of the report considers the financial performance of the company and
contribution to the Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2018/19.

4.2

Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver High
Peak Borough Council Waste services. Phase 2 began on 1st July 2018 to deliver
waste services to Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and fleet management
services to the Alliance as a whole.
Alliance Environmental Service’s financial performance

4.3

The AES business plan for all services delivered to both Councils included an
anticipated operating profit of £111,830. The draft outturn provided at 31st March
2019 shows that a profit of £109,160 was achieved during the year; showing a
small shortfall of £2,670 against the budget. The outturn includes both the
crystallised risk items payable by the Councils (£363,340); and the reimbursement
of the planned efficiency target payable by (AES £169,730).

2018-19

Budget

Turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit

£
(6,495,840)
5,789,890
(705,950)

£
(6,073,480)
5,417,080
(656,400)

£
422,360
(372,810)
49,550

594,120
(111,830)

547,240
(109,160)

(46,880)
2,670

Administrative & Other Expenses
(Profit)/ Loss

Draft outturn

Variance

Impact on the Council’s budgets
4.4

This table shows in more detail the outturn on the AES contract included in the
General Fund Revenue Account:
2018-19

£

Contract budget

2,335,250

Transfer of contract hire budget
Net budget

168,350
2,503,600

Management fee
Crystallised in-year risk items
Allocation of AES efficiency

2,327,630
271,010
(76,220)

Net management fee payable

2,522,420

Allocation of Joint Operation Profit
Net total payable

(82,620)
2,439,800

Variance to Budget

(63,800)

11

Page 29

4.5

In addition to the service budgets for the management fee (contract budget), it has
been recognised that savings on former contract hire vehicle budgets have been
achieved as a direct result of the change in vehicle provision upon cessation of the
SFS contract (the Council’s former provider of contract hire vehicles). Therefore,
savings of £168,350 have been transferred to support the crystallised waste
vehicle and other fleet risk items.

4.6

The AES Business Plan includes forecast expenditure recognised initially as ‘risk
items’ which may or may not crystallise into actual costs/ payments or may be
absorbed into the existing management fee paid on account. The draft outturn
shows that £271,010 of these risk items have crystallised, the majority of which
relate to waste vehicle and other fleet costs. The contract states that any profits
realised in excess of the budget would be used to offset this amount. This did not
occur in 2018/19 as there was no excess profit achieved.

4.7

The Council’s share of the total AES efficiency achieved is £76,220. This is
repayable to the Council and is allocated against the management fee costs.

4.8

Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to the
Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to separate
group accounts being reported. The profit is therefore apportioned between the
two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of original budgeted
resources from each department. £82,620 is offset against the management fee
costs.
Efficiencies

4.9

The total 2018/19 efficiency target relating to AES services is £242,850. This is
made up of the £169,370 allocated to AES and £73,480 to be achieved from the
retained budgets of both Councils. This has been achieved during the year.
Pensions

4.10

During the year AES became an admitted body in the Staffordshire Pension Fund
(SPF). This involved ‘pooling’ the staff transferred to AES, with the remaining
Council employees in the Staffordshire Moorlands portion of the SPF. This
effectively removed pension risk from the company, whilst at the same time
offering greater budget certainty and putting the Council in the same risk position
that it would have been if services had continued to be delivered in-house.

12

Page 30

5

Capital Programme

5.1

This section of the report provides an update on the Council’s Capital Programme.

5.2

The revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2018/19, as updated and
approved in February, was set at £3,591,700.

5.3

The 2018/19 provisional outturn at March 2019 is summarised in the table below,
with further detail provided at Annex A.
Service

2018/19
Approved
Budget Feb 19

Outturn
2018/19

Variance

£

£

£

Housing Standards
Property Services
Fleet Management
Regeneration
Horticulture
Funding:
Grants External Contributions
Capital Reserve
Planning obligations
Borrowing

5.4

1,161,650
483,750
1,346,300
30,000
570,000
3,591,700

822,783
404,470
573,436
21,183
405,462
2,227,334

(338,867)
(79,280)
(772,864)
(8,817)
(164,538)
(1,364,366)

1,211,000
1,346,300
135,690
898,710
3,591,700

872,783
573,436
135,684
645,431
2,227,334

(338,217)
(772,864)
(6)
(253,279)
(1,364,366)

The Council incurred Capital Expenditure of £2,227,334 during the year against
the revised budget of £3,591,700. This represents an underspend of £1,364,366.
The majority of the underspend reflects the impact of projects which are either
behind schedule or have progressed quicker than expected with the most
significant variances being:


Housing Standards (£338,867 underspend) - the actual value of Disabled
Facilities Grants (DFG’s) works completed in 2018/19 was lower than
anticipated, this was the first year of new home improvement agency
arrangements. The current service provider has indicated there has been a
slight up turn in demand for mandatory DFGs in the Moorlands in the first
months of 2019/20 and it is hoped through positive promotion that activity will
continue to improve. The Council will also seek to drive the release of funding
of discretionary grants to reach a wider group of residents who do not meet the
mandatory criteria but nonetheless still need support towards adaptions to their
homes. In the last three years the Council has not spent up to the increased
levels of Government support received for DFGs, as a consequence this
underspend will not be carried forward at this stage. DFG funding is ring-fenced
and the surplus can be drawn down in the year if necessary.
13

Page 31



Property Services (£79,280 underspend) - caused primarily by a number of in
progress Asset Management Projects where expenditure in the year was below
or ahead of forecast. These variances will be carried forward into 2019/20 to
fund those projects.



Fleet Management Vehicle & Plant Acquisitions (£772,864 underspend) following transfer of the waste collection service to Alliance Environmental
Services (AES), new fleet management arrangements have been agreed.
Existing contract hire agreements have been terminated and vehicles have
been directly purchased. The underspend reflects the revised timing of
acquisitions of further fleet vehicles which will now take place in 2019/20



Horticulture (£164,538 underspend) - installation of new skate parks at Brough
Park and Tean road recreation ground were completed in the year; works to
provide floodlighting to the Brough Park site and refurbishment of office and
car park at Tean road will now be completed in 2019/20.

5.5

Consequently, capital funding applied to the 2018/19 Capital Programme is lower
than forecast, reflecting the incidence of timing of capital spend.

5.6

As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to increase the
capital budgets for 2019/20 as shown in the table below:
Capital Programme 'Carry Forwards' (2018/19 to 2019/20)
Service

Housing
Property Services
Fleet Management
Regeneration
Horticulture

Variance

Carry Forward
2019/20
Over/(Under)
Spend

£
(338,867)
(79,280)
(772,864)
(8,817)
(164,538)
(1,364,366)

£
(650)
(78,675)
(772,864)
(380)
(164,538)
(1,017,107)

14

Page 32

Over/
(Under)spend
Completed
Projects
£
(338,217)
(605)
(8,437)
(347,259)

6

Treasury Management

6.1

This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high
level treasury management summary. The Audit and Accounts Committee
receives detailed operational updates on treasury management.
Investments

6.2

Cash Investments held on the 31st March 2019 totalled £7.6 million. Interest
earned on these investments during the year totalled £56,710 and the average
level of funds available for investment was £8.8 million.

6.3

The Council budgeted to receive £73,590 in investment income in 2018/19. The
shortfall of £16,880 against this budget is due to increased internal borrowing
during the year which reduces the level of funds available for investment.
Ascent Joint Venture

6.4

Ascent (the joint venture company set up to deliver affordable housing across the
district) had drawn the full £5 million Debenture facility by the end of 2014/15.
Interest is charged at 2%, and the full budgeted interest income for the year of
£100,000 was achieved.

6.5

The balance on the £20 million loan facility to Ascent remained at £14million.
There have been no further drawdowns of the loan since the 2015/16 year. Interest
charged is based on the 5 year PWLB rate on the date of the drawdown plus a
1.25% risk premium. The refinanced tranche 1 of £7 million matured in October
2018 and was rolled again for a short period pending the outcome of the Ascent
LLP business plan review at a rate of 3.05% (previously 2.61%). Therefore a small
shortfall of £6,500 is reported against the income budget of £446,690.
Borrowing

6.6

Total debt outstanding as at 31st March 2019 totalled £11 million; this funds the
Ascent Loan. £5million loans which matured in October and November 2018, were
refinanced with £4million total new loans: £1 million with Vale of Glamorgan
Council at 0.95% (for 6 months), £2 million with Lincolnshire County Council at
1.10% (for 1 year); and £1 million with Western Isles Council at 1.00% (for 9
months).

6.7

The Council budgeted to incur £272,760 in interest charges in 2018/19. This was
based on externally funding the full existing Ascent loan balance of £14 million and
a £2.2 million general fund borrowing requirement in the current year capital
programme. £7 million of the Ascent loan was internally funded at the end of
quarter 3, then £3million during quarter 4; and there was no borrowing undertaken
for the general fund. Therefore, a saving of £83,230 has been achieved against the
budget.

15

Page 33

7

Revenue Collection

7.1

This section of the report details progress to date in collecting the Council Tax,
Business Rates and Sundry Debt.

7.2

The Q4 collection rate outturn for the year 2018/19 was as follows:

7.3



Council Tax – 98.66% of Council Tax was collected by 31st March 2019,
compared to 98.60% for the same period last year.



Business Rates – 99.13% of Business Rates was collected by 31st March
2019, compared with 98.54% for the same period last year.

At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old was
£70,434 which compares with £110,423 at 31st March 2018.

16

Page 34

ANNEX A
Capital Programme Update 31st March 2019
Capital Programme Outturn 2018-2019

Capital Schemes

2018/19
Approved
Budget
Feb 19

Outturn
2018/19

£

£

Variance

C/Fwd to
2019/20

Over/(Under
spend)
Completed
Projects

£

£

£

Housing Standards

1,161,650

822,783

(338,867)

(650)

(338,217)

1,161,650

822,783

(338,867)

(650)

(338,217)

483,750

404,470

(79,280)

(78,675)

(605)

483,750

404,470

(79,280)

(78,675)

(605)

1,346,300

573,436

(772,864)

(772,864)

-

1,346,300

573,436

(772,864)

(772,864)

-

30,000

21,183

(8,817)

(380)

(8,437)

30,000

21,183

(8,817)

(380)

(8,437)

570,000

405,462

(164,538)

(164,538)

-

Total Horticulture

570,000

405,462

(164,538)

(164,538)

-

Total Programme

3,591,700

2,227,334

(1,364,366)

(1,017,107)

(347,259)

Private Sector Grants
Total Environmental Health
Property Services
Asset Management Plan
Total Property
Fleet Management
Vehicle & Plant Purchases
Total Fleet Management
Regeneration
Moorlands Partnership Grants
Total Regeneration
Horticulture
Play - Projects

17

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

2018/19
Fourth Quarter
Procurement
Review

Page 37

1.

Introduction

1.1

A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency &
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was
agreed by Councillors in April 2017.

1.2

The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives
link closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.
The key actions in in the strategy include:








1.3

Delivery of cashable efficiency savings to support the Efficiency &
Rationalisation Strategy by tendering, retendering and renegotiating of
contracts.
Development and embedding a professional procurement unit of excellence
to deliver on going efficiency savings for the Council
Revising Procurement Procedure Rules to support transparency, timeliness
of contract award and greater control – these have now been updated
Expanding the usage of electronic procurement systems for works as
appropriate
Increasing the levels of spend covered by the contract
Implementation of e-tendering
Supporting the local economy by increasing the number of procurement
opportunities advertised and adoption of a local business concordat

The Procurement Strategy is now due for updating and is scheduled for
presentation during 2019.

Page 38

2.

Fourth Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1

The activity supported by the procurement function during the fourth quarter
January – March 2019 is summarised below:
Forth Quarter

SMDC Only
JOINT (SM/HP)

High Value
(> £181,000)

Low Value
(< £181,000)

Total

1

6
7
13

7
8
15

1
2

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 15 procurements exercises reviewed and
completed during quarter four.
2.3 No cashable savings have been made as a result of specific procurement activity
during Quarter 4, this will continue to be monitored throughout the year and any
savings identified will be offset against the efficiency programme.
2.4 A review of historical overall expenditure against budget has taken place to identify
where budgets can be reduced due to ongoing/one-off procurement activity.
£68,000 has been realised against the Efficiency Plan in 2018/19.

Page 39

3.

2019/20 Procurement Forward Plan

3.1

The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion or starting in
2019/20.
2019/20
Activity
SMDC
JOINT (SM/HP)

High Value
(> £181,000)

Low Value
(< £181,000)

Total

3
5

14
39

17
44

8

53

61

3.2

In addition to the above, there are 89 listed entries brought forward from previous
years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).

3.3

Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activities that are scheduled
for delivery in 2019/20 include:




CCTV Maintenance and Monitoring Arrangements
Leek Markets Logistic Support (Market stalls)
Insurance

Page 40

4.

Procurement Performance

4.1

This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity
and the payment of suppliers.

4.2

Performance for the fourth quarter is highlighted below:
Performance Indicator
% of Alliance Procurement Activity on
Forward Plan
Annual contract spend as % of gross
expenditure budget
% of invoices paid within 30 days

4.3

Target

Performance at 31st
March 2019

72%

64%

84%

87%

96%

92%

Regular service review meetings continuing to ensure that planned activity is
captured and monitored on the plan. New processes have been implemented
within the creditors function to enhance the workflows to maximise on efficient
working practices.

Page 41

ANNEX A
Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - SMDC
Contract name

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One Off

SMDC Leisure
Centre
Management

Management and
operation of
Leisure centres
for Staffordshire
Moorlands

Recurring

Commissioning
Services

Single Persons
Housing
Project

Securing
accommodation in
the private rented
sector for
vulnerable and
homelessness
clients
A masterplan and
investment
strategy for
Cheadle Town
Centre that
focuses on key
town centre sites
to provide a
coherent housing
led regeneration
project.
Lease Preparation
in relation to
Churnet Valley
Railway Lease of
SM land

Recurring

Cheadle Town
Centre
Masterplan

Legal Advice &
Lease
Preparation

Brough Park
Footpath
Works

Moorlands
House Car
Park Lighting
Improvement

Chairmans
Civic Service

Service Area

Award
Detail

Term /
Duration
(years)

OJEU

Parkwood
Leisure
Ltd

5

375,000

Housing

Single
Source

Adullam
Homes
Housing

2

164,400

One off

Regeneration

Tender

Cushman
and
Wakefield

1

59,718

One off

Regeneration

Framework

Geldard’s

1

10,450

Repair to existing
footpath and
construction of
new section
(access to Skate
park) at Brough
Park
Lighting at the
rear of Moorlands,
works required to
improve the
lighting in this car
park

One off

Commissioning
Services

Advert

Fords of
Blythe
Bridge

1

7,060

One off

Assets

Single
Source

E.ON
Energy
Solutions
Ltd
Highway
Lighting

1

5,455

Chairmans civic
service

One off

Member
Services

Single
Source

Ridgeway
Caterers

1

2,563

Page 42

Procedure

Total
Contract
Value (inc
extensions)

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT
Contract name

Brief contract
description

Vehicles
Outright
Purchase
(Waste RCVs) SMDC / HPBC

Fleet Provision
across Alliance for
AES

One off

Purchase of
PACCAR
Vehicles

Purchase of 2 x
16T Refuse
Collection
Vehicles and 1 x
7.5T Tipper

One off

Digital Customer
Portal

Customer Self
serve portal

Recurring

Committee
Management
System

Committee
Management
Software for
Agendas and
Minutes

Recurring

Communications
Consultancy

External
Communications
Consultancy
services to deliver
programme of
Celebrating the
Alliance at 10yrs
Play area
improvements

One off

Jetting and
Drainage
Services (Adhoc
SMDC HPBC
Private Housing
and HPBC
Housing)

Drainage and
Jetting works

Recurring

Regulatory
Legislation
Software Riams System

Software to
support
Regulatory
services for one
stop shop to
access,
Legislation,
notices & policies.
Also includes
wider services
Planning,
Enforcement,
Health & Safety

Recurring

Play Area
improvements
Simmondley and
Leek (Pickwood)

Recurring
or One Off

One off

Service Area

Procedure

Operational
Services - Fleet

Framework

Operational
Services - Fleet

OD&T

Award Detail

Term /
Duration
(years)

Dennis
Eagle Ltd
(HPBC 2,248,453)
(SMDC 1,264,382)

1

Single
Source

PACCAR

1

Framework

IEG4 Ltd OneVu

1

Modern
Mindset

2

Single
Source

Northern
Design
Collective
Ltd

1

Operational
Services -

Framework

Wicksteed
Leisure Ltd

1

Operational
services DLO

Tender

1

Regulatory
Services

Single
Source

Drainage
Consultants
Ltd
Eden Point
Three Acres
Lane
Cheadle
Hulme
Cheshire
SK8 6RL
RIAMS

OD&T

OD&T

Page 43

Framework

Total
Contract
Value

3,512,835

178,000

98,026

40,040

30,000

12,274

11,800

3
4,500

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 45

Staffs Moorlands Performance & Customer Feedback Report: April 2018 to March 2019 (Q4)

Staffordshire Moorlands Q4 Summary
The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April 2018 to March 2019 in
relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of
the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and
compliments.
Performance Overview
There are 113 ‘monthly’, ‘quarterly’, and ‘annual only’ reported performance measures at Staffs Moorlands. The chart below shows the results
for the year and shows a 3% improvement on 2017/18. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end of
this report.

Page 46

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the revised 2018-2019
Corporate Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions.
Off Track
100%
80%

100%

79%

In danger of going off Track

80%

60%

60%

40%

21%

40%

20%

20%

0%

0%
Target Met

Off Track

45%

On Track
37%
18%

Better

Weaker

No Change

Not yet started / Decision
awaited
Complete / Closed

Customer Feedback Overview
There has been a reduction in complaints during 2018/19, down from 193 to 98. Repeat complaints stand at only 2% and performance in
handing complaints in 10 days is ahead of the increased target. Further information about lessons learned is included in the report.

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work
SM Aim 1: March Results 2018/19
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Target Met

Off Track

SM Aim 1: March Trends 2018/19
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Better

Weaker

No Change

Page 47

The Council failed to meet the Benefit processing targets for new claims and changes of circumstance. Following the introduction of Universal
Credit, there has been a reduction in the number of new claims which has affected our ability to significantly reduce the average annual
processing times. Households in temporary accommodation were also above the targeted level due to the effects of the homelessness
reduction act.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2018/19 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:





Accuracy of benefits processing
level of external funding awarded for sport and physical activity
homeless cases resolved
Sports participation programmes created

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action
Help to ensure, through the scrutiny work programme, that
partner service provision, particularly health provision for
the elderly, is effective

Page 48

Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high
performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying
value for money improvements for Housing Benefit
processing
Ensure the Council is compliant with the requirements of the
new Homelessness Reduction Act

Status

Commentary – March
The Health O&S Panel met on the 13th February 2019.
The Panel heard detailed accounts of life with ME and how the
illness debilitated patients. The representatives advised
members that they had set up an informal group which met at
Meerbrook Village Hall which gave the opportunity for patients
and their carers to share information and experiences.
‘Changes Health and Wellbeing’ provided the Panel with an
overview of the services provided. The Panel received a
presentation on the Future of Local Health Services in Northern
Staffordshire and members gave their opinions and feedback to
the North Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group Officers.
Report received and sent to AMT for approval for completion of
this action – May 2019 Meeting.
Action Completed.

Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity
strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility provision
being achieved by other councils; in order to achieve
improved health and value for money outcomes
Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the
agreed recommendations

Contract extension documentation is expected to be signed off on
29/4/19.

Develop a strategy for further development of affordable
and specialist housing
Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners
to ensure an effective partnership with central government

Continuing to review options for the future of Ascent.

The CCTV project is approaching the final stages. The next
recommendations from the consultants have been received. Notice
has been given with effect from 01/07/2019.

Links to strategic partnerships project above.

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money

SM Aim 2 : March Results 2018/19

SM Aim 2 : March Trends 2018/19
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Target Met

Off Track

Better

Weaker

No Change

Page 49

Staffs Moorlands fell behind target for the completion of PEP appraisals, reportable / lost time accidents, planned procurement activity,
invoice payment and SOCITM’s website quality rating. Despite this, Aim Two remains a strong area for performance with the majority of
targets being met and 60% of PIs showing an improvement on last year.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2018/19 the following PIs outstripped their target:








employee accidents
Facebook followers
on-contract spend
council tax and business rates collected
repeat complaints
council business units let
sundry debt reduction

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action
Deliver the Channel Shift Programme

Page 50

Provide advice and support for residents
affected by the rollout of Universal Credit
across Staffordshire Moorlands in 2018 in
order to help ensure a smooth transition
to the new system
Continue to embed good information
management practices through the
ASSURED framework

Develop and implement a plan to identify
new and innovative ways of generating
income

Status

Commentary – March
The Digital Strategy is currently under review.
E billing will commence following year end.
The environmental reporting app was looked at as part of the CGI review. This will
be included in the new digital programme going forward, the work will be
prioritized.
Phase 1 has been completed and is now business as usual.

The Assured framework is regularly publicised via Keeping You Informed and staff
are encouraged to report data breaches. The GDPR action plan is monitored
through the Information Governance Group.
A number of training sessions have taken place to help key staff comply with GDPR,
with further sessions planned for staff requiring in depth training. The online
training package has been completed and is being rolled out to all staff on a team
by team basis from Q1 2019-20.
Information Asset Registers are complete and have being reviewed by audit.
Protective Marking briefing sessions are taking place with teams as required.
Our approach to Data Protection Impact Assessments has been reviewed following
training and has been integrated into procurement and project management
processes.
A target has been included as part of the new efficiency and rationalisation strategy
2017/18 – 20/21. Updates for various streams:
Commercial properties- Project now closed as business as usual, the finalized
report is being implemented. A delegated report is to be written for rental on the
community unit.
Fees and charges- Next review for 2019/20 budget setting/MTFP. Cash up against
efficiency target to be undertaken during 2018/19.
Advertising/Sponsorship -The current status being reviewed and a formal project
board is being established. A new policy is to be written and adopted.
Affordable Housing - Continuing to review options for the future of Ascent.

Priority Action

Refresh and implement the Asset
Management Plan, including a review of
public estate, and ensure adequate
facilities management arrangements are
in place

Status

Commentary – March

Page 51

Empty Homes- North Staffordshire rent to buy scheme, purchase and repair
scheme with EPIC housing association:
- an update report has been provided to the portfolio holder
- empty properties have been targeted- further letters have been sent to empty
property owners highlighting the scheme
- 1 completion and 2 sales are proceeding with the solicitors, 3 further property
offers being negotiated.
Facilities Management: An agreement to extend has been made with DCC with 3
months notice, a meeting was held at the beginning of April. We have received a
quote from Kier regarding the condition surveys proposal.
Corporate and other relevant policies have been fed through to CIPFA for the Asset
Management Plan.
Team members have met with CIPFA regarding the compliance audit and the report
has been received. A meeting took place at the beginning of February with CIPFA to
review the current status. A system demonstration has been arranged for the end
of April with the supplier.

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and
villages

SM Aim 3: March Results 2018/19
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Page 52

Target Met

Off Track

SM Aim 3 : March Trends 2018/19
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Better

Weaker

No Change

The Council performed well against Aim Three with only 2 PIs off track. Staffs Moorlands failed to hit the satisfaction target from planning
agents but hit all of the planning processing targets. The town centre vacancy rate at Staffs Moorlands has risen from 11.5% to 15%; with
Cheadle having the highest proportion of empty shops at 20%.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2018/19 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
 Major, Minor and other planning applications processed on time
 Major and minor developments allowed on appeal
 planning enforcement activity

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March

Undertake detailed process benchmarking
with high performing / low cost councils
with a view to identifying value for money
improvements for Planning application
processing

Report received and sent to AMT for approval for completion of this action – May
2019 Meeting.

Implement the town deal in Biddulph in
partnership with Biddulph Town Council

Draft stage-2 report completed with input from the landowners, demand analysis
and highways with regard to infrastructure requirements and preferred junctions. A
meeting has been held to review options and materials for the consultation event
and there was an information drop in session held at the beginning of February.

Page 53

Support the development of Cornhill and
improved rail links
Develop and implement plans to extend
the public market operations
Develop a master plan for the Leek Mill
Quarter
Support the development of the former
Churnet Works site in Leek
Submit the Draft Local Plan to the
Planning Inspector by the end of June
2018

Proposed consultation was pushed back by 4 weeks due to delays in receiving the
local plan examination feedback on site. This will probably have an overall impact
of approximately 2 weeks.
Joint bid venture between SMDC and the landowner and developer of an adjacent
site to deliver both Cornhill West (outline pp) and Cornhill East (SMDC ownership)
was submitted to LGF in October. The bid submitted to LGF was not successful, final
outcome from LEP awaited.
The work to the Butter Market has been completed and was launched in March.
CityB- legal agreements and licences are to be reviewed.
The Leek Mill Quarter masterplan is not being commissioned at present as the sale
of the Social Services building and the new ownership of London Mill means that
the private sector will lead on this.
There are discussions with the developer regarding the freehold price and the
timescale has slipped due to the on-going negotiations. The planning application
will not be submitted by the developer until the price has been agreed.
Action Complete.

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment

SM Aim 4: March Results 2018/19

Page 54

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Target Met

Off Track

SM Aim 4 : March Trends 2018/19
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Better

Weaker

No Change

Aim Four is the Council’s strongest area in terms of performance. The recycling rates are estimates only at this stage and won’t be confirmed until later in
the year but at present are marginally below target.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2018/19 the following PIs outstripped their targets:






fly-tipping incidents
ASB enforcements (fixed penalty notices, warnings and community protection notices)
missed bins
street cleanliness standards
community clean ups

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action
Successfully deliver Phases 2 and 3 of the
transfer of services to Alliance
Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint
venture company, to deliver waste,
streets and ground maintenance services
on behalf of the Council in order to
achieve improved performance and value
for money outcomes.
Establish a developer open space
contributions plan

Page 55

Make Improvements to the Tean Road
Recreation ground in Cheadle

Identify and implement an approach to
reduce the cost of country parks

Develop a plan to improve Brough Park
with Heritage Lottery Fund support

Status

Commentary – March
Awaiting confirmation of phase 3 go live date in order for the consultation process
to commence.

An Open Space Audit and Playing Pitch Strategy have been completed and forms
part of a wider Developer Contributions SPD (Supplementary Planning Document).
The intention is to contract this work out to a consultant and the draft specification
is now being developed. The tender will be advertised in January 2019 with a view
to an appointment being made in February. Following consultation, the SPD should
be adopted by the end of 2019.
The concreting on the skate park will be completed at the beginning of April,
reinstatement works will start the following week. The Rospa visit took place Mon
01/04/2019 to sign the project off. Turfing reinstatement works are being sought
directly by Cheadle TC as our project specification only included grass seeding.
SOTCC have not progressed the freehold transfer of Wetley Moor to SMDC, having
not obtained member approval. In addition they have not provided an up to date
position in regard to the tenancy situation without which SWT are not prepared to
progress the transfer. The project has now stalled as officers are unable to obtain a
response from SOTCC regarding the time frame for this to occur. Affected
employees have been advised.
Stage 3 requirements are to be included in a full project review. The play area will
need a new report as the direction has changed from the original. Planning
permission has been granted for the floodlights at the skate park and as a result we
have received confirmation of the Sport England funding (£50k). We await
confirmation of the date for the installation works. A new path has also been
installed to the skate park.

Priority Action
Reduce the Council’s energy consumption
and associated costs (through the Asset
Management Plan)

Status

Commentary – March
Corporate and other relevant policies have been fed through to CIPFA for the Asset
Management Plan.
Team members have met with CIPFA regarding the compliance audit and the report
has been received. A meeting took place in February with CIPFA to review the
current status.
A system demonstration has been arranged at the end of April with the supplier.

Page 56

Page 57

Page 58

Areas for Improvement: 2018/19 Outturn
Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Aim 1: Increased supply of
good quality affordable
homes

Assistant Chief
Executive

Target
2018/19

Result
Mar 2019

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

18 days

22.34 days

7 days

10.52 days

The early part of each year is challenging for
benefits with year end closedown and other
pressures affecting performance. Usually we
have been able to claw this back across the year,
however the challenges of UC roll outs and
moving to the shared service have affected this
year. UC has meant less new claims for HB again
affecting the ability to make up for a slow start
and closedowns. We have also seen an increase
in changes as a result. Benefits performance is a
key area for improvement in 2019/20 and we are
revising our structure and processes to support
this.

Staffs Moorlands
Housing Benefits
Processing: Time taken to
process new claims
Housing Benefits
Processing: Time taken to
process changes of
circumstance

Page 59
Number of households in
temporary accommodation

NEW: Number of new
volunteering programmes
created in priority areas

Aim 1: Provision of high
quality leisure facilities

Head of Service
Commissioning

10

11

The Homeless Reduction Act has extended the
persons to whom we have a duty and this has
impacted upon the levels of temporary
accommodation required.

2

0

We are still in the infancy of delivering
programmes in priority areas, existing targets
have proven to be too ambitious .Requested that
this measure is made contextual to give the team
time to re-focus their efforts in the priority areas
where we have commenced work, leading to
targets being reviewed for 2020-21.

Page 60

Target
2018/19

Result
Mar 2019

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Head of OD &
Transformation

4 stars

3 stars

The next assessment is not due until August 2019

Head of Finance

96%

92%

The year end result has been affected by nonreplacement of a staff member and unforeseen
absences within the team. We are reviewing our
processes to maximise our efficiency and we
anticipate a reduction in invoices in the coming
year due to the outsourcing initiatives. We are
confident the targets for next year will be
achieved.

100% of
target

49%

The MTFP is balanced by means of the savings
detailed in the Efficiency and Rationalisation
Plan, which was approved in February 2017.
These savings were profiled over a 4 year period
running up to 2020/21, with an annual target set
for each year. Slippage in the delivery of the
2018/19 savings has led to a shortfall of £422,970
in the year necessitating the re-profiling of the
plan with the introduction of a fifth year, in which
to meet the savings requirement. The majority of
the unachieved savings are forecast to be
delivered in early 2019/20 with the remaining
planned savings being delivered by 2021/22. The
2019/20 to 2022/23 MTFP, approved in February
2019, provides more detail on the progress
achieved to date in the delivery of the planned
savings.

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Website Quality: Socitm
Better Connected
assessment

Aim 2: Easily available
services provided right
first time

% of invoices paid in line
with terms of contract

Aim 2: Effective use of
financial and other
resources to ensure value
for money

% of corporate efficiency
savings met

Target
2018/19

Result
Mar 2019

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Head of Service
Commissioning

59%

58.43%

Results for Quarter 4 are estimated as we are not
in receipt of any disposal tonnage data from SCC
nor have received March's recycling information
from AES.

Aim 2: Effective use of
financial and other
resources to ensure value
for money

Head of Finance

72%

64%

A number of reactive and single source
appointments have affected the result for this
year. We will continue with the quarterly
management reviews in an attempt to minimise
this type of appointment.

% of Appraisals completed
across the workforce (Joint
Alliance measure)

Aim 2: High performing
and motivated workforce

Head of OD &
Transformation

100%

66%

Further to the management restructure early in
the year and a number of staffing moves a
number of PEP’s have yet to be completed, plans
are in place to train new staff to complete PEP’s
and a programme is in place to ensure all staff
have an up to date PEP.

Number of RIDDOR
reportable / Lost Time
(7days) accidents (Joint
Alliance measure)

Aim 2: High performing
and motivated workforce

Assistant Chief
Executive

0

4

There are no trends or patterns to the accidents,
2 have been non-work related. However, we
have carried out a significant amount of staff
training and any issues will have been picked up
by the respective manager.

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

% of household waste sent
for reuse, recycling and
composting

Aim 4:
Effective recycling and
waste management

% of Procurement activity
on forward plan (Joint
Alliance measure)

Alliance Measures

Page 61

For a full list of all performance measures and the Q4 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link.
http://hpbc.alliance-online.org/transformation/performance-management

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
30 July 2019
TITLE:

Homelessness Update Report

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Mike Bowen – Portfolio Holder
for Communities

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mary Walker – Head of Customer Services

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached - Appendix A –Supporting Data and Information
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to provide an update following the first year of the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, with information relating to
implementation and homelessness applications made during 2018/19.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That members note the contents of this report, no decision is required as the
report is for information only.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 has led to
substantial change and significantly extends the statutory duties of local
housing authorities.

3.2

There has been a substantial increase in homelessness applications (380%
HPBC, 190% SMDC) which exceed estimations laid out within the Alliance
wide Homelessness Review and Strategy 2018-2022.

3.3

The main reasons for homelessness and loss of settled homes are; ending of
a private rented tenancy, family exclusion, non-violent relationship breakdown
and domestic abuse.

3.4

The Act and corresponding support needs data collection brings opportunity
for insight into the causes and problems facing people who are homeless or at
risk of homelessness. Facilitating access to appropriate support, including
tenancy related support in order to sustain accommodation is a strategic
priority. The housing service continues to work with partners in order to
mitigate the impact of Universal Credit and promote clear pathways of support

Page 63

for vulnerable households, particularly those who may be at risk of
homelessness.
3.5

There has been a longstanding focus on homelessness prevention prior to the
implementation of the Act. The outcomes relating to new Prevention and Relief
Duties show successful interventions achieved in 54% of Staffordshire
Moorlands closed cases with 131 households assisted to retain or secure
alternative accommodation. Similarly in High Peak, 60% successful
interventions achieved, with 214 households assisted to prevent or relieve
their homelessness.

3.6

IT based solutions have assisted with the implementation of new duties and
caseload management. Internal staffing reviews have led to a new duty rota
system and the establishment of two new posts. Partnership development has
led to collaborative work to secure grant funding for services to prevent and
address homelessness and establish protocols and joint working around
homelessness. Commissioning has led to provider services to support
customer access to accommodation, with rent bond assistance, pre-tenancy
training and enhanced tenancy support availability. Also Call b4 You Serve
bespoke landlord service with additional prevention officer capacity to support
earlier intervention.

3.7

Future considerations include the Housing, Communities and Local
Government Committee inquiry into the Act and draft Domestic Abuse Bill
2019.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

Contributes to the Corporate Plan 2015-19 aim of helping to create a safer and
healthier environment for our residents to live and work.

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

Recommended - That members note the content of the report and receive
further reports from officers at future meetings.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
There are no specific implications with this report

6.2

Workforce
There are no specific implications with this report

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The report has been prepared in line with Council policies

6.4

Financial Considerations
The Council has been awarded MHCLG time limited equivalent
three years £68,360 New Burdens funding and £197,101 Flexible
Homelessness Support Grant and £6,000 one off Homelessness

Page 64

Prevention Top Up grant; to support delivery of the Act and
homelessness prevention.
MHCLG awarded £9,202 to support upgrade of IT data systems
and £3,207 to support HCLIC homelessness monitoring.
Further MHCLG grant funding outlined fig A12 (appendix 1).
6.5

Legal
The Homelessness Reduction Act significantly changes the
statutory approach to homelessness and there are a number of
additional duties placed upon local authorities.

6.6

Sustainability
There are no specific implications with this report

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act is a
Transformation Board project.
MHCLG consultation feedback provided in relation to draft
Homelessness Code of Guidance and ‘tackling homelessness
together: a consultation on structures that support partnership
working and accountability in homelessness’ and Domestic Abuse
questionnaire.

6.8

Risk Assessment
There are no current significant risks to this report.
Mary Walker
Assistant Chief Executive

Web Links and
Background Papers
Homelessness
Review and Strategy
2018-2022

Location

Contact details

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
article/1349/Housing-Strategy

Michelle Costello
Housing Strategy
Technical Officer
Michelle.costello@staffs
moorlands.gov.uk
01538 395400 ext 4100.

7.

Background and Detail

7.1

The Housing Options Service provides housing and homelessness advice and
assistance. Households who are assessed as eligible for assistance and
homeless or threatened with homelessness fall into our statutory function to
take reasonable steps to prevent and/ or relieve homelessness.

7.2

The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 from 3rd April
2018 has led to substantial change and significantly extends the statutory
function of local housing authorities. Key changes include;
 Extended definition of ‘threatened with homelessness’ from 28 days to 56

Page 65

days.
 Requirements to provide Assessments (considering homelessness
circumstances, housing and support needs) and Personal Housing Plans
(detailing actions to be undertaken)
 New Prevention Duty - to assist all households who are eligible, threatened
with homelessness, regardless of priority need, intentionality or local
connection.
 New Relief Duty - to take reasonable steps to secure accommodation for
eligible, homeless households regardless of priory need or intentionality.
7.3

Homelessness approaches

7.3.1 A substantial increase in homelessness applications (380% HPBC, 190%
SMDC) illustrated Fig A1 (Appendix A) reflect the new requirements and
exceed estimations laid out within the Alliance wide Homelessness Review
and Strategy 2018-2022.
7.3.2 The majority of homeless applicants (62% both authorities) initially owed a
Prevention Duty, however over third (36% HPBC, 35% SMDC) approaches
owed a Relief Duty, indicating that people are approaching at point of
homelessness as opposed to an earlier opportunity.
7.4

Duty to refer

7.4.1 In effect from 1st October 2018, Government introduced a new ‘duty to refer’
households who may be threatened with homelessness upon specified public
bodies, including for instance social services, prisons, health services and Job
Centres. There is also discretion for other agencies to refer. During 2018/19
SMDC received 71 referrals and HPBC received 124, as illustrated fig A2
(Appendix A). These referrals led to a significant number of households
accessing homelessness assistance and can be attributed specifically to 17%
SMDC and 20% of HPBC homelessness applications.
7.5

Causes of homelessness

7.5.1 Fig A3 (Appendix A) considers the main reason for loss of settled home
amongst 2018/19 homeless applicants and homeless applicants across
England between April 2018 and June 2018. The main reasons for
homelessness across the alliance reflect trends across England; however
there is higher incidence of non-violent relationship breakdown. As
demonstrated in previous years, the main reasons for homelessness during
2018/19;





End of private rented tenancy (SMDC 20%, HPBC 17%)
Family no longer willing to accommodate (SMDC 18%, HPBC 22%)
Relationship with partner ended (non-violent breakdown) (SMDC 18%, HPBC
13%)
Domestic abuse (SMDC 11%, HPBC 8%)

Page 66

7.6

Support needs and key information relating to homeless applicants

7.6.1 Fig A4 (Appendix A) compares the support needs of homeless applicants
within 2018/19 and homeless applicants across England between April 2018
and June 2018. The Act and corresponding support needs data collected as
part of Assessments brings opportunity for insight into the causes and
problems facing people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.
Applicants may have more than one support need and have multiple support
needs. Overall the support needs of applicants are similar to support needs
across England, however the percentage of applicants with physical ill health/
disability, at risk or / experienced domestic abuse and history of mental ill
health are higher in High Peak. Applicants with complex needs, including
substance misuse and mental health, are more challenging to assist and need
a more social care or person centred type of approach. This requires
increased efforts in partnership with other professionals and suitable options
may be more difficult to secure. Facilitating access to appropriate support,
including tenancy related support, is key to sustaining accommodation and is
identified as a strategic priority within the Alliance wide Homelessness
Strategy.
7.6.2 The Act provides new legal duties to provide meaningful help to secure
accommodation for those homeless or at risk of homelessness, regardless of
priority need. Single households are most likely to be non priority need
households. Fig A5 (Appendix A) illustrates that single person households are
now the predominant household type amongst homeless applicants (SMDC
54%, HPBC 61%).
7.6.3 The ethnicity of homeless applicants in fig A6 (Appendix A) shows that the
largest ethnic group remains White British, representing 94% across both
authorities.
7.6.4 Across the Alliance the predominant age range of homeless applicants is 2535 years as shown in fig A7 (SMDC 36%, HPBC 33%), with homelessness
occurring least frequently amongst older 60+ years.
7.6.5 Fig A8 shows that 28% SMDC and 29% HPBC homeless applicants employed
at the time of approach. 22% SMDC and 26% HPBC on a long term sickness
related benefit and 29% approaching capable of work in both authorities. The
roll out of digital service for Universal Credit took place June 2018
Staffordshire Moorlands and September 2018 High Peak. From this point, the
majority of new claims for housing costs need to claim Universal Credit and
existing housing benefit claimant’s transfer onto Universal Credit upon
reporting a significant change of circumstances. Universal Credit claimants
are required to complete a separate claim for Council Tax Reduction. The roll
out of Universal Credit is the subject of greatest concern within the
Homelessness Monitor 2019, with nearly two thirds of local authorities
anticipating a significant homelessness increase as a result. The housing
service continues to work closely with DWP, Benefit and Council Tax teams,
Citizens Advice and housing providers in order to mitigate the impact of

Page 67

Universal Credit and promote clear pathways of support for vulnerable
households, particularly those who may be at risk of homelessness.
Temporary accommodation

7.7

7.7.1 A duty to provide temporary accommodation exists if households may have a
priority need and in cold and extreme weather. The use of temporary
accommodation is rising (fig A9), particularly in High Peak, which can be
attributed to increasing homelessness applications and households previously
found ‘intentionally homeless’ now under the Act become eligible for
temporary accommodation for a longer period of time. The housing service
continues to have a focus on minimising temporary accommodation use and
securing suitable temporary accommodation options.
7.8

Rough sleeping

7.8.1 Published in August 2018, the governments Rough Sleeping Strategy sets out
a strategy to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and end rough sleeping by 2027.
The most acute form of housing need, rough sleeping is used to describe
those that are roofless and bedding down without adequate shelter. Levels of
rough sleeping remain low (figs A10 & A11), however work is ongoing to
ensure an effective response and outreach service provision (fig A12).
7.9

Outcomes

7.9.1 The Housing Options Service has had a longstanding focus on homelessness
prevention prior to the implementation of the Act. The pie charts (figs A13-16)
provide detail relating to Prevention and Relief Duty cases closed during
2018/19. As at the end of 2018/19;


68% of closed HPBC Prevention cases have a successful outcome, with 146
households assisted to secure existing or alternative accommodation (fig
A13).
 62% of closed SMDC Prevention cases have a successful outcome, with 92
households assisted to secure existing or alternative accommodation (fig
A14).
 47% of closed HPBC Relief cases have a successful outcome, with 68
households assisted to secure alternative accommodation (fig A15).
 40% of closed SMDC Relief cases have a successful outcome, with 39
households assisted to secure alternative accommodation (fig A16).
7.9.2 Unfortunately it can be difficult to engage homeless applicants in casework,
demonstrated in Prevention and Relief Duty cases closed due to ‘contact lost’.
The data shows that only 9% High Peak and 14% Staffordshire Moorlands
Prevention Duty cases escalated to the Relief Duty stage. After Prevention
and Relief Duty assistance a small number of cases progress onto Main Duty
Decision stage (fig 17). Taken together successful Prevention and Relief Duty
interventions achieved in 60% of High Peak cases, with 214 households
assisted to retain or secure alternative accommodation. Similarly in
Staffordshire Moorlands, 54% successful interventions achieved, with 131
households assisted to prevent or relieve their homelessness.

Page 68

7.10

Service implementation

7.10.1 Recent Local Government Association research into the implementation of
new homelessness duties reported that Councils found increased
administration duties detracted from the ability to meet the needs of people at
risk of homelessness. IT based solutions have assisted with increased
caseload administration over longer time periods, including online enquiry/
application web forms, triage, Assessments, Personal Housing Plans,
correspondence, casework management practice (including scheduled
reminders and case alerts) and new monitoring requirements.
7.10.2 Internal staffing structure reviews have led to;
 An effective duty rota system, which provides continuity for customers with
initial enquiries progressed by point of contact housing adviser and non duty
casework days.
 Establishment of two new posts. One supports the implementation of the Act
and the roll out of Universal Credit. Another provides Home Options housing
register administration, which enables housing advisers to focus on
homelessness casework.
7.10.3 The housing service is working to put in place effective prevention tools for
customers to access, and staff to utilise, to prevent homelessness situations
from escalating.
7.10.4 Partnership development has led to;
 Collaborative working groups to consider services and opportunities to prevent
and address homelessness have secured grant funding outlined fig A12.
 Work with key partners to establish protocols and embed prevention and
effective joint working around homelessness experienced including children
social care, people with care leaver and adult social care needs, hospital
discharge and prison release.
7.10.5 A main challenge in preventing and relieving homelessness is the availability
of suitable accommodation options, which is identified as a strategic priority
within the Alliance wide Homelessness Strategy. Work streams include work
with Registered Providers around pre-eviction protocols, making best use of
available social and council housing stock with allocation policy review and
improving the Private Rented Sector Offer, also identified as a strategic
priority within the Alliance wide Homelessness Strategy. Recent
developments to improve private sector renting may however impact upon
private sector supply. In April Government announced proposals to remove
section 21 no-fault evictions. Currently under s21 Housing Act 1988 landlords
are able to give 8 weeks notice to leave after a fixed term contract without
explanation. From April 2018 landlords are no longer permitted to let homes
which do not achieve a minimum energy efficiency rating of Band E. The
Tenant Fees Act 2019 recently came into force 1 June 2019 and most of
the fees that landlords charge will be banned. Private sector eviction is
highlighted as one of the main reasons for homelessness however there are

Page 69

opportunities to work with the private sector, to incentivise and ensure the
sustainability of tenancies.
7.10.6 Commissioning has led to;
 Re-procurement of provider services to support customer access to
accommodation, with rent bond assistance, pre-tenancy training and
enhanced tenancy support availability.
 Call b4 You Serve bespoke landlord service with additional prevention officer
capacity to support earlier intervention.
7.11

Future considerations

7.11.1 The Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee are currently
conducting an inquiry into the implementation and impact of the Act. They will
examine how local authorities have adapted services, additional costs placed
on them, outcomes and whether reforms could be made to improve legislation.
7.11.2 On 21 January 2019 government published a draft Domestic Abuse Bill in
response to consultation and research. The Bill aims to support victims and
their families, pursue offenders and may change approaches to tackling
domestic abuse.

Page 70

Appendix A: Supporting Data and Information
Fig A1: Homelessness Applications
SMDC

HPBC

Not threatened with homelessness within 56 days

11

13

Threatened with homelessness – Prevention Duty owed

186

274

Already homeless – Relief Duty owed

105

160

Total homeless applications

302

447

2017/18

Total homeless applications

104

93

2016/17

Total homeless applications

76

150

2015/16

Total homeless applications

89

129

2014/15

Total homeless applications

92

121

2018/19

Fig A2: Homelessness Referrals
HPBC

SMDC

Adult Secure Estate (prison)

1

1

Adult Social Services

12

5

Armed Forces / Veteran Support Service

2

0

Children’s Early Help services / Children’s Centres

0

1

Children’s Social care

2

6

Community Rehabilitation Company

0

1

Debt Advice Agency

35

1

DWP – Jobcentre Plus

12

3

Families Intervention Programme

0

3

Further Education College

1

1

GPs

0

1

Hospital A&E or in-patient

1

1

Housing benefit /Welfare Assistance Service

0

2

Housing related (floating) support provider

33

16

Mental Health Service – Acute in-patient

3

2

Mental Health Service – Community based

5

4

National Probation Service

2

1

Other local authority service

0

4

Other service provider (not housing related)

1

5

Police

1

0

Private landlord

3

0

Private Registered Provider (Housing Association)

1

4

Refuge provider

4

0

Street Services for rough sleepers

1

1

Substance Misuse Treatment Service

0

3

Supported housing provider

4

5

Total

124

71

Resulting in homelessness applications

89

50

Page 71

SMDC - count

SMDC % of applicants

HPBC - count

HPBC % of applicants

England % of applicants

Fig A3: Main reason for loss of settled home

Domestic abuse

33

11%

37

8%

8%

End of private rented tenancy
End of social rented tenancy

59

20%

81

17%

24%

9

3%

12

3%

6%

Eviction from supported housing

4

1%

7

2%

0%

Family no longer willing or able to accommodate

55

18%

99

22%

18%

Fire or flood / other emergency

2

1%

4

1%

0%

Friends no longer willing or able to accommodate

13

4%

26

6%

4%

Left HM Forces

0

0%

1

0%

0%

Left institution with no accommodation available

0

0%

7

2%

1%

Mortgage repossession
Non-racially motivated / other motivated violence or
harassment
Property disrepair

7

2%

3

1%

1%

3

1%

3

1%

2%

2

1%

4

1%

0%

Racially motivated violence or harassment

0

0%

1

0%

0%

Relationship with partner ended (non-violent breakdown)

54

18%

56

13%

7%

Other

49

16

86

19%

25%

Not specified

12

4

20

4%

SMDC - count
SMDC % of applicants
HPBC - count
HPBC % of applicants
England % of applicants

3
1%
5
1%
4%

12
4%
30
7%
4%

6
2%
12
3%
3%

Page 72

29
10%
72
16%
9%

8
3%
18
4%
2%

4
1%
13
3%
1%

3
1%
6
1%
1%

9
3%
28
6%
5%

Former asylum seeker

Drug dependency needs

Care leaver aged 21+ years

Care leaver aged 18-20 years

At risk of/has experienced sexual
abuse/exploitation

At risk of/has experienced
domestic abuse

At risk of/has experienced abuse
(non-domestic abuse)

Alcohol dependency needs

Access to education, employment
or training

Fig A4: Support needs of homeless applicants

0
0%
0
0%
1%

8

6

4

43

4

2

12%

3%

2%

3%

2%

1%

14%

1%

1%

124

29

26

29

28

12

100

8

5

HPBC % of applicants

27%

6%

6%

6%

6%

3%

22%

2%

1%

England % of applicants

22%

7%

6%

4%

7%

1%

14%

1%

1%

SMDC % of applicants
HPBC - count

SMDC

HPBC

Childless Couple

21

11

Family with Children

115

158

3

3

163

275

Non-cohabiting Couple
Single person

Fig A6: Ethnicity of main applicant
SMDC

HPBC

Any other Asian background

1

1

Any other ethnic group

2

0

Any other Black/African/Caribbean background

0

1

Any other White background

4

4

Asian/Asian British: Chinese

0

2

Don’t know / refused

6

5

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and Asian

2

1

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and Black African

1

1

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and Black Caribbean

0

4

283

421

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller

2

0

White: Irish

1

7

White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British

Fig A7: Age of main applicants
Age
range

SMDC

16-17

5

SMDC
%
2%

18-24

52

17%

110

25-35

110

36%

147

36-44

62

21%

75

45-59

57

19%

80

60-64

8

3%

15

HPBC
2

HPBC
%

0%
25%
33%
17%
18%
3%

Page 73

Served in HM Forces

Old age

Offending history

Fig A5: Homeless applicant household type

Young parent requiring
support to manage
independently

6

Physical ill health and
disability

10

Learning disability

History of repeat
homelessness

History of rough sleeping

History of mental health
problems
37

SMDC - count

65-74

4

1%

13

75+

4

1%

5

3%
1%

Fig A8: Employment status of main applicant
SMDC

SMDC
%

HPBC

22
23
6
24

7%
8%
2%
8%

32
19
5
17

7%
4%
1%
4%

67
21
41
12
1
45
40

22%
7%
14%
4%
0%
15%
13%

114
31
79
19
1
67
63

26%
7%
18%
4%
0%
15%
14%

At home/not seeking work (including looking
after the home or family)
Don’t know / Refused
Full-time student
Not registered unemployed but seeking work
Not working because of long term sickness or
disability
Other
Registered unemployed
Retired (including retired early)
Training Scheme / apprenticeship
Working: 30 hours a week or more
Working: less than 30 hours a week

HPBC
%

Fig A9 Number of households in temporary accommodation (performance indicator)

Fig A10: Annual rough sleeper counts and evidence based estimates

2018
2017
2016
2015
2014

HPBC figure
and (per
1,000
households)

SMDC figure
and (per
1,000
households)

East Midlands
figure and (per
1,000
households)

1 (0.02)
3 (0.07)
1
3
2

2 (0.05)
1 (0.02)
2
4
2

358 (0.18)
313 (0.16)
255
208
193

Page 74

West
Midlands
figure and
(per 1,000
households)
420 (0.18)
295 (0.12)
289
249
186

England figure
and (per 1,000
households)
4677 (0.20)
4751 (0.20)
4134
3569
2744

Fig A11: Rough sleeping referrals
Referrals
received
Leading to
contact

SMDC
HPBC
SMDC
HPBC

2015
19
2
6
0

2016
7
3
0
1

2017
4
10
2
6

2018
6
6
4
5

Fig A12: Grant funding secured to prevent and address homelessness
Funding
programme

Partners

Key elements

MHCLG
2018/20
Domestic
Abuse Fund

Staffordshire
North bid
including
SMDC, with
SOTCC, NBC
& ARCH
(North Staffs)
Ltd

Ensure Moorlands refuge bed spaces are not
reduced (from Oct 2018 County wide core
funding no longer funds refuge
accommodation based provision).
Maintain Moorlands refuge based specialised
support for children and young people.
Enhance accommodation with additional
2x2bh in each authority for families with
complex needs/ male dependents.
Domestic Abuse Advocate role; to support
housing advice teams across authorities with
training, Assessments, PHPs and timely
access to appropriate accommodation and
support.

DCC
covering
HPBC

Enable High Peak refuge providers to
£529,799
maintain accommodation and enhance
support services.
Derbyshire wide basis –support the
Derbyshire domestic abuse phone line
and add Police resource to allow for
earlier targeting/ engagement in order to
reduce escalation of domestic abuse to
further higher risk incidents and crimes.
Extend Call B4 You Serve services
£226,000
across the authority areas and provide 3
homeless prevention officer posts to
support and funding pot to provide one off
homeless prevention payments.

MHCLG
Private
Rented
Sector
Access Fund
MHCLG
Rough
Sleeping
Cold
Weather
Fund
MHCLG
Rough
Sleeper
initiative

Derbyshire
authorities
including
SMDC &
Nottingham
authorities
HPBC
SMDC

Derbyshire
authorities
including
SMDC

Total
funding
secured
£139,998

Assist with provision of new temporary
accommodation (1x2b, 1x3b)
Assist with provision of new temporary
accommodation (1x4b)

£12,085

Across the authority areas; 2x rough
sleeper co-ordinators, 5x street outreach
workers.

£250,000

Page 75

£4,961

Fig A13: HPBC reason Prevention Duty ended within 2018/19

Fig A14: SMDC reason Prevention Duty ended within 2018/19

Page 76

Fig A15: HPBC reason Relief Duty ended within 2018/19

Fig A16: SMDC reason Relief Duty ended within 2018/19

Fig A17: Main Duty decisions within 2018/19
SMDC

HPBC

Homeless + no priority need

4

11

Homeless + priority need + unintentional

3

12

Homeless + priority need + intentionally homeless
Lost contact prior to assessment

1

2

1

1

Not homeless

0

1

Total decisions 2018/19

9

27

Page 77

Page 78

Agenda Item 10.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
30 July 2019
TITLE:

Declaration of Air Quality Management Areas

PORTFOLIO:

Councillor S Scalise – Portfolio Holder for Environment

OFFICER:

Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental Health

WARDS:

Leek and Cellarhead

Appendices attached:
Appendix 1 – AQMA Order
Appendix 2 – Table 3 Options
1.

Reason for the Report
1.1

2.

3.

To make recommendations to ensure that the Council meets its legal
duty in relation to the declaration of Air Quality Management Area
(AQMAs) as required by the Environment Act 1995.

Recommendation
2.1

That Cabinet makes an Order under Section 83 of the Environment Act
1995 declaring Air Quality Management Areas in the form attached at
Appendix 2.

2.2

That Cabinet agrees to declare Air Quality Management Areas on the
basis of Option 2 for Leek and Option 2 for Cellarhead.

2.3

That the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel be requested to
consider the contents of the Air Quality Action Plans for both Air Quality
Management Areas.

Executive Summary
3.1

The outcome of an assessment of the air quality in Leek and
Cellarhead has concluded that it is necessary to declare two Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs), encompassing the roads and properties
within these areas.

Page 79

4.

3.2

The declaration of AQMAs is required because levels of Nitrogen
Dioxide have been found to exceed the National Air Quality Standard.
Under these circumstances the Council is obliged by the provisions of
the Environment Act 1995 to declare an Air Quality Management Area.
A map showing the extent of the proposed AQMA is provided in the
report.

3.3

It is recommended that the Cabinet declares AQMAs on the basis of
Option 2 in both Leek and Cellarhead. It is further recommended that
the Air Quality Action Plans in both cases be considered by the
members of the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities
4.1

This report supports the following Council’s Corporate Aims:



5.

Options and Analysis
5.1

6.

Aim 1: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our
residents to live and work.
Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment.

The Executive is asked to consider the report, and determine whether
the evidence provided is sufficient to recommend that an Order under
Section 83 of the Environment Act 1995 declaring an Air Quality
Management Area be made, for Option 2 detailed below for the Leek
area and Option 2 for Cellarhead.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
There are no Community Safety issues arising from this report.

6.2

Workforce
There are no workforce implications arising from this report.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.
There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

6.4

Financial Considerations

Page 80

There are no initial financial implications arising from this report. All
assessments will be carried out as part of the Council’s routine work.
However, the Council may need to seek support from external bodies
should any further modelling be required for the preparation of the
action plan. Typically the cost of this would be in the region of £5,000.
6.5

Legal
The Council has a statutory duty to manage Air Quality in its area and
where nationally set criteria are exceeded to declare an AQMA. Once
declared, the Council is obliged to prepare, following due consultation
with interested parties, an Air Quality Action Plan. The Plan must
subsequently be implemented. Failure to do so may result in legal
action being taken against the Council.

6.6

Sustainability
There are no sustainability implications arising from this report.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
Public consultation cannot change the decision of whether or not to
declare (this is mandatory). However, a public notification/informative
exercise has been completed to inform those affected, including:



6.8

Letters and information to all residents affected;
Web Promotion.

Risk Assessment
It is a statutory requirement that the Council assesses air quality and
takes action where appropriate. In this case there is an obligation to
declare an AQMA. The necessary process is underway and there are
no risks to the Council at this stage of the process.
The European Commission has formally launched infraction
proceedings against the UK for breach of nitrogen dioxide limit values
under the EU Air Quality Directive. Part 2 of the Localism Act allows
the Government to require responsible authorities to pay all or part of
an infraction fine. By undertaking its statutory duties and carrying out
all reasonable measures to address breaches of the nitrogen dioxide
limits, it is anticipated that such fines will not be derogated to this
Council.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer
Web Links and Background Location
Papers

Page 81

Contact Details

Regulatory Services
Moorlands House
Stockwell Street
Leek

7.

Alicia Patterson
Head of Environmental
Health

Background and Detail
7.1

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. In
common with the rest of the UK, the main sources of air pollution
across the Staffordshire Moorlands are emissions from road traffic, in
particularly Nitrogen Dioxide and Particulate matter.

7.2

Typically, the highest road-side concentrations of these pollutants are
found on roads with high traffic volumes and/or where traffic regularly
queues. However, roadside pollution also tends to reduce as you move
away from the traffic therefore, when measuring pollution, the
government requires Councils to focus on areas considered to be
“relevant exposure”. In other words, it should be representative of the
air people actually breathe. This usually means the concentrations at
a person’s home (i.e. at the façade of the property) but it can also mean
another location at which people spend a lot of time, such as a town
centre or school.

7.3

Legal Framework
Section 82 of the Environment Act 1995 requires a Local Authority to
review and assess local air quality against national health based
standards for seven key pollutants set out in the Air Quality Regulations
2000 (as amended). The regulatory framework previously set up a
phased approach to this work starting with an Update and Screening
Assessment and moving to a detailed assessment where further work
is are required. In 2016, the regulatory system changed, and the
phased approach has been replaced by the requirement to produce an
Annual Status Report (‘ASR’).

7.4

The government publishes Air Quality objectives for the individual
pollutants, and the Council is required to determine if we have got a
pollution issue by comparing our monitoring data with these objectives.
Under Section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, where air quality
objectives are not being met (or are predicted to not be met), the local
authority must proceed and designate this area as an Air Quality
Management Area (‘AQMA’).

7.5

Local Authorities are charged with a number of duties relative to the
declaration of an AQMA:
7.5.1 Action Planning

Page 82

Once an AQMA has been declared, the local authority has a
year to publish an action plan setting out how the Authority
intends to use the measures and powers available to work
towards improving the air quality within the AQMA. In instances
relating to traffic generated pollution, the powers are primarily
available to other organisations, such as the relevant highways
authority rather than the District Council. Changes in the
statutory policy guidance place a greater emphasis on highway
authorities to take a leading role in developing actions plans,
when the cause of air quality exceedances is predominantly from
roads under their responsibility. As such, any action plan will be
developed in conjunction with those bodies.
7.5.2 Review Action Plan Progress
Progress on implementing the action plan will be reviewed
annually.
7.6

Proposed Air Quality Management Area 1 (AQMA_1): Leek
Exceedances of Air Quality objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide have been
measured directly at 2 properties in Leek. One along Broad Street and
one along Ball Haye Street. These are shown in Table 1.
Table 1. Monitoring data from relevant locations in Leek
Location
Leek (Ball Haye St _ Central)
Leek (Ball Haye St _ South)
Leek (Ball Haye St_ North)
Leek (Broad Street Jct North_1)*
Leek (Broad Street Vets_ South 2)
Leek (Broad Street North_3)
Leek (Broad Street Jct North_4)
Broad Street South
Broad Street Junction

Ref:

2016

2017

2018

24
31
32
25
34
37
41
47
48

43.2
34.6
39.5
47.4
33.5
45.3
37.7
***
***

42.6
34.3
36.4
42.1
29.2
42.3
32.7
24.9
33.6

37.8
31.6
36.2
42.4
27.0
38.9
31.1
26.9
32.2

*Not “relevant” exposure (property)
*** Data not available; monitoring location set up in 2017

7.7

To determine the extent of the possible AQMA, this (and other data)
was used to prepare a detailed Air Quality assessment (using a
computer model) to predict what other areas in Leek may currently be
exceeding the AQ objectives for Nitrogen dioxide.

7.8

The results of the detailed assessment are shown Figure 1, using a
contour plot to aid visualisation of this area. They indicate that the
majority of predicted AQ exceedances are “within the roads” but also at
around 74 properties.
It should be noted that this is a
conservative/worse case scenario and is likely to have resulted in the
over-prediction of pollutant concentrations so may suggest a larger
area of exceedance than is actually occurring. However, it will provide

Page 83

the basis for a conservative AQMA to be declared, that ensures that all
potential areas of exceedance are included.
Figure 1: Proposed extent AQMA_1: Leek (Option 2)

7.9

AQMA_1: Leek, Options to Consider
Three options can be considered when declaring the extent of the
proposed AQMA_1: Leek,
 Option 1: The AQMA is restricted to the properties confirmed as
exceeding AQ objectives (based only on directly collected data).
Comment:
above act.

This is the minimum requirement to comply with the

Required Action: To produce an Action Plan with 1 year.
Negatives: Declaration of an AQMA can be perceived as an
“economic negative” by home owners, and the declaration of small
areas may focus this perception. Focused actions on small areas
(not Leek wide) could move or exacerbate potential problems in other
areas of Leek (identified as being potentially at risk).
As we have completed a detailed assessment and identified other
potential areas of exceedance, we would have to present a strong
argument to central government to not include these areas in our

Page 84

AQMA (for example, by the instigation of larger scale monitoring in
areas identified as potentially exceeding acceptable levels).
Positives: That SMDC (and stakeholders) are addressing health
concerns along Broad Street / Ball Haye. Allows for more specific
focus on problem areas, though many of the possible actions could
have a positive benefit on Leek as a whole.
 Option 2: (Preferred Option). The proposed AQMA is the area
shown in red on Figure 1.
Comment: Allows for a more extensive AQMA to be declared that
ensures that all potential areas of exceedance are included.
Required Action: To produce an Action Plan with 1 year.
Negatives: As with Option 1; declaration of an AQMA can be
perceived as an economic negative by home owners and extending
the area means more homes may have this perception.
Positives: That SMDC (and stakeholders) are addressing health
concerns along Broad Street / Ball Haye but allows for a more Leek
wide approach to tackling air quality as well as specific focus on
problem areas. May reduce negative impact by including more
properties and making declaration more “road specific”.
 Option 3: The AQMA is the area shown in red on Figure 1 but the
area of the contour is widened by a further 5m.
Comment: Allow for an increased area of declaration that ensures
that all potential areas of exceedance are included. Widening the
contour by 5m means an additional 131 (205 total) properties are
within the proposed AQMA compared to Option 2.
Required Action: To produce an Action Plan with 1 year.
Negatives: As with Option 1 & 2; declaration of an AQMA can be
perceived as an economic negative by home owners and extending
the area means more homes may have this perception. This may
give the impression Leek has a worse air quality problem than is the
case.
Positives: As with option 2. That SMDC (and stakeholders) is
addressing health concerns along Broad Street / Ball Haye and
allows for more Leek wide approach to tackling air quality as well as
specific focus on problem areas. May reduce negative impact by
including more properties / making declaration more “road specific”
7.10

Proposed Air Quality Management Area 2 (AQMA_2): Cellarhead

Page 85

Exceedances of Air Quality objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide have been
measured at 4 properties at Cellarhead crossroads, on the North Bound
Leek Road.
Table 2: Monitoring data from relevant locations in Cellarhead
Location
Ref:
2016
2017
Cellarhead Junction_2
38
50.8
48.5
Cellarhead Junction_3
39
51.1
48.7
Cellarhead Junction_4
42
48.9
41.6
Cellarhead Junction_5
49
***
28.2
*** Data not available; monitoring location set up in 2017

2018
41.3
41.1
39.8
29.3

7.11

To determine the extent of the possible AQMA, this (and other data)
was used to do a detailed Air Quality assessment (using a computer
model) to determine what other areas in around Cellarhead may be
exceeding the AQ objectives for Nitrogen dioxide.

7.12

The results of the detailed assessment are shown Figure 2, using a
contour plot to aid visualisation of this area. They indicate that the
majority of predicted AQ exceedances are “within the roads” but also at
around 15 properties.

7.13

It should be noted that this is a conservative/worse case scenario and
is likely to have resulted in the over-prediction of pollutant
concentrations so may suggest a larger area of exceedance than is
actually occurring. However, it will provide the basis for a conservative
AQMA to be declared, that ensures that all potential areas of
exceedance are included.

Page 86

Figure 2: Proposed extent of AQMA_2: Cellarhead (Option 2)

7.14

AQMA_2: Cellarhead, Options to Consider
Two options can be considered when declaring the extent of the
proposed AQMA_2: Leek, Cellarhead:
 Option 1: The AQMA is restricted to the properties confirmed as
exceeding AQ objectives (based only on directly collected data).
Comment:
above act.

This is the minimum requirement to comply with the

Required Action: To produce an Action Plan with 1 year.
Negatives: The air quality problem is occurring at a junction and
needs to be considered together. As we have completed a detailed
assessment and identified other potential areas of exceedance, we
would have to present a strong argument to central government to
not include these areas in the AQMA.
Positives: That SMDC (and stakeholders) are addressing health
concerns of these properties.
 Option 2: (Preferred Option). The proposed AQMA is the area
shown in red on Figure 2.

Page 87

Comment: Allows for a more extensive AQMA to be declared that
ensures that all potential areas of exceedance are included, and the
junction is considered as a whole.
Required Action: To produce an Action Plan with 1 year.
Negatives: Declaration of an AQMA can be perceived as an
economic negative by home owners and extending the area means
more homes may have this perception.
Positives: That SMDC (and stakeholders) are addressing health
concerns of these properties and wider Cellarhead junction.
8.0

Action Planning
Once declared, both AQMAs require a separate action plan to be
produced within 1 year. The action plans needs to set out how the
authority intends to use the measures and powers available to work
towards improving the air quality within the AQMAs.
Although the plans will be produced separately, the broad structure for
each action plan will look at the same possible actions so are discussed
together below. It should be noted that work has already started on
preparing the action plan at both locations, with actions highlighted in
bold.

8.1

General
The Action Plans will take a practical approach and focus on what really
matters – identifying the nature of the problem, and detailing measures
that are or will be introduced to improve air quality at the local level.
The Council will not be preparing or implementing the action plan in
isolation and will engage with relevant local (e.g. Staffordshire County
Council) and national stakeholders (e.g. Highways England, Public
Health England and Central Government), to help deliver the required
outcomes.
These will include the following actions:
 Quantification of the source contributions (e.g. HGVs, buses, taxis
etc.) responsible for the exceedance.
Knowing the source of the problem will allow the Action Plan measures
to be effectively targeted Completed for both.
This exercise shows that, in the majority of cases, emissions from cars
contribute the largest proportion to the overall annual mean nitrogen
dioxide concentration (both), followed by emissions from LGVs and
HGVs (Leek) and HGVs and LGVs (Cellarhead).

Page 88

 Identify Measures to effectively target the source of the problem
(Ongoing) , these might include interventions such as:
o Improve public education on air quality and encourage the use
of public transport, cycling, walking, park and ride schemes, and
car sharing;
SMDC were active in gaining a grant to appoint 2 Air Quality
education specialists, 1 to liaise with businesses and 1 to
engage with schools (the officer recently attended Westwood
first school);
o Improving existing road layouts and junctions to optimise traffic
flow, for example moving junctions or adjusting traffic light
timings (in conjunction with Staffs CC);
This has been done at Ball Haye (timings) and officers are looking
at the Cellarhead junction – ongoing:
o Infrastructure improvements; redesign of local roads to improve
traffic flow and reduce idling traffic; the creation of park and ride
services; (in conjunction with Staffs CC) ;
o Encouraging uptake of electric vehicles via ensuring adequate
charge points (in conjunction with Staffs CC);
o Engage with local business to adopt fleet recognition schemes
for emissions (ongoing);
SMDC currently offer a fleet recognition scheme for businesses free
of charge;
o Review of SMDC’s policies and procedures to promote air quality
(ongoing);
A full detailed list of possible actions under consideration is given in
Appendix 2 (Table 3).
 Measuring the impacts of the proposed measures – including,
where feasible, data on emissions and concentrations so the
Council can demonstrate how it intends to monitor and evaluate the
effectiveness of the plan;
 Clear Targets, including milestones and expected outcomes which
the authority and other delivery partners propose to implement the
measures within the Action Plan;

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Air Quality Management Area Order
Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83(2)
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, in exercise of the powers conferred upon it
by Section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, hereby makes the following Order.
This Order may be cited/referred to as the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Air Quality Management Area No 1 (Leek) Area No 2 (Cellarhead). and shall come
into effect on XXXXXX
The area shown on the attached maps in red are to be designated as air quality
management areas (the designated areas). The designated areas incorporates the
Cellarhead and Leek.
This Area is designated in relation to a likely breach of the Nitrogen Dioxide annual
mean standard as specified in the Air Quality Regulations 2000.
This Order shall remain in force until it is varied or revoked by a subsequent order.
The Common Seal of Staffordshire Moorlands District Councill was hereto affixed on
XXX and signed in the presence of xxxxxx on behalf of said Council

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Table 3: Action Plan, additional approaches being considered:
Alternatives to private vehicle use Bus based Park & Ride
Car & lift sharing schemes
Car Clubs
Rail based Park & Ride
Other
Environmental Permits

Introduction/increase of environment charges through
permit systems and economic instruments
Introduction/increase of environmental funding through
permit systems and economic instruments
Large Combustion Plant Permits and National Plans going
beyond BAT
Measures to reduce pollution through IPPC Permits going
beyond BAT
Other measure through permit systems and economic
instruments
Tradable permit system through permit systems and
economic instruments
Other

Freight and Delivery Management Delivery and Service plans
Freight Consolidation Centre
Freight Partnerships for city centre deliveries
Quiet & out of hours delivery
Route Management Plans/ Strategic routing strategy for
HGV's
Other
Policy Guidance and
Development Control

Air Quality Planning and Policy Guidance
Low Emissions Strategy
Other policy
Regional Groups Co-ordinating programmes to develop
Area wide Strategies to reduce emissions and improve air
quality

Page 93

Sustainable Procurement Guidance
Promoting Low Emission Plant

Emission control equipment for small and medium sized
stationary combustion sources / replacement of
combustion sources
Low Emission Fuels for stationary and mobile sources in
Public Procurement
Other measure for low emission fuels for stationary and
mobile sources
Public Procurement of stationary combustion sources
Regulations for fuel quality for low emission fuels for
stationary and mobile sources
Shift to installations using low emission fuels for stationary
and mobile sources
Other Policy

Promoting Low Emission
Transport

Company Vehicle Procurement -Prioritising uptake of low
emission vehicles
Low Emission Zone (LEZ) or Clean Air Zone (CAZ)
Priority parking for LEV's
Procuring alternative Refuelling infrastructure to promote
Low Emission Vehicles, EV recharging, Gas fuel
recharging
Public Vehicle Procurement -Prioritising uptake of low
emission vehicles
Taxi emission incentives
Taxi Licensing conditions
Other

Promoting Travel Alternatives

Encourage / Facilitate home-working
Intensive active travel campaign & infrastructure
Personalised Travel Planning
Promote use of rail and inland waterways
Promotion of cycling
Promotion of walking

Page 94

School Travel Plans
Workplace Travel Planning
Other
Public Information

Via leaflets
Via other mechanisms
Via radio
Via television
Via the Internet
Other

Traffic Management

Anti-idling enforcement
Emission based parking or permit charges
Reduction of speed limits, 20mph zones
Road User Charging (RUC)/ Congestion charging
Strategic highway improvements, Re-prioritising road
space away from cars, inc Access management, Selective
vehicle priority, bus priority, high vehicle occupancy lane
Testing Vehicle Emissions
UTC, Congestion management, traffic reduction
Workplace Parking Levy, Parking Enforcement on
highway
Other

Transport Planning and
Infrastructure

Bus route improvements
Cycle network
Public cycle hire scheme
Public transport improvements-interchanges stations and
services
Other

Vehicle Fleet Efficiency

Driver training and ECO driving aids
Fleet efficiency and recognition schemes

Page 95

Promoting Low Emission Public Transport
Testing Vehicle Emissions
Vehicle Retrofitting programmes
Other

Page 96

Agenda Item 13.1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14.1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 101

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14.2

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

